
City of Santa Fe RFP #23/47/P Golf Course Management Services: Answers to Submitted Questions 

 

1. Question: How has the golf course been operated in the past and why has the City of SF 
structured the current RFP in a hybrid model? 

Answer: Marty Sanchez Links de Santa Fe opened in 1998. Golf services and the café have been 
operated by New Mexico Golf Limited (NMGL) and a variety of restaurant operators for the previous 25 
years. The City has provided the turf management and marketing services since the golf course’s 
inception. By City procurement policy, an RFP has gone out every four years and will continue to go out 
every four years. Previous RFPs resulted in NMGL being the winning bidder of golf services. A variety of 
restaurant operators won the bid and leased the café through the years.  

The current hybrid style RFP provides for the previously mentioned operational structure. The additional 
turf management and marketing options offer more flexibility for proposing organizations including 
offering turnkey operations proposals; the goal being a broader spectrum of proposals submitted to the 
City than in previous years. This format should provide the City a diversity of proposal options to 
consider and also allow a variety of organizations to play to their own strengths when writing their 
proposal. 

 

2. Question: Can an organization bid on all three proposal options (original proposal, proposal 
alternate #1, proposal alternate #2) to provide turnkey operations management for MSL 
(inclusive of turf management and marketing components)? 

Answer: Yes 

 

3. Question: Who provides current employees for the café and golf services? 

Answer: NMGL provides all employees in these areas. 

 

4. Question: What are the responsibilities, pay rates, and the union status of each employee on 
the organizational chart in the RFP appendix by position? 

Answer:  

 Parks & Open Space Division Director 

Duties: Directs all Parks and Open Space staff, capital, operational planning, budgeting.  

 Golf Course & Sports Complex Manager 

Duties: Manages the restaurant and golf services contracts, turf management section, Golf Course 
Superintendent, Golf Facility Marketing and Special Events Coordinator, MRC Sports Complex 
Superintendent, and the Account Technician. Recommends the annual golf course operational, 
marketing, and sports complex budgets to the director. Recommends short- and long-range capital 



projects/improvements for the golf facility and sports complex. Provides overall vision and direction for 
golf facility and sports complex. 

 Golf Course Superintendent (pay rate: $36.22/hr) 

Duties: Oversees day-to-day turf management operations. Recommends short- and long-term golf 
course projects as they relate to irrigation, water management, turf health, and operation of basic 
utilities on the golf property. 

 Marketing & Special Events Coordinator (pay rate: $25.06/hr; union member) 

Duties: Recommends short-term marketing direction, website and social media content. Creates e-blast, 
social media content, pursues brand consistency. Oversees the City of SF’s annual ForeKids Golf 
Tournament. Recommends ad programming and content. 

 Irrigation Superintendent (pay rate: $27.50/hr) 

Duties: Supervises the turf management staff daily activities at the direction of the GC Superintendent. 
Monitors, maintains, and repairs irrigation as needed. Recommends short-term irrigation, agronomy, 
water direction to GC Superintendent. 

 Golf Course Mechanic (pay rate: $22.30/hr.; union member) 

Duties: Conducts the maintenance and repair program for all turf management equipment. Orders and 
maintains equipment repair and maintenance supplies. 

 Account Technician (pay rate: $16.20; part-time; union member) 

Duties: Issues sports complex field usage permits, assists with procurement processes, assists Marketing 
& Special Events Coordinator with planning and set up of the annual ForeKids Golf Tournament. 

 Parks Maintenance Worker (x3) (pay rate: $16.20, $16.20, $16.69; union members) 

Duties: Operates mowers, trimmers, blowers, bunker raking equipment, assists in the completion of 
basic irrigation repairs. Assists with aeration, verticutting, top dressing, overseeding. 

 Seasonal (x7) (pay rate: $21.42; currently contracted through temp agency Apr-Oct) 

Duties: Operates mowers, trimmers, blowers, bunker raking equipment. Assists with aeration, 
verticutting, top dressing, overseeding. 

 

5. Question: Will any type of expenses (payroll, benefits, operating expenses) be reimbursed to 
the contractor by the City? 

Answer: Any desirable (proposal alternate) selected by the proposing organization will be fully staffed, 
managed, and paid by the operator. Any City employees currently staffing the awarded area will be 
given a similar role in a different area/division/department within the City as applicable. Therefore, 
there will be no City employees in areas managed by the operator unless an exception is requested in 
the awarded proposal and granted in the negotiations. Following from that, there will be no payroll, 
benefit, or operating expenses that will be reimbursed by the City. The only exceptions will be that 



renovation projects, basic utilities (including gas, electric, and all water delivery, system repair and 
maintenance) will be paid by the City. 

 

6. Question: Is the fee paid to the contractor intended to cover every expense without pass 
through to the City? 

Answer: Yes 

 

7. Question: Are current course conditions satisfactory? 

Answer: Greens, bunkers, and water feature conditions, in particular, are well below a satisfactory level 
as of the date of the site visit. The goal is that the condition of the golf course would match the style, 
design, and status of the original property build which has more of a resort-level feel. 

 

8. Question: What has been updated or repaired in the clubhouse in the past 2 years? 

Answer: The clubhouse and on-course restrooms have been renovated. The HVAC in the café was 
repaired in 2022. Landscaping in front of the clubhouse will be updated by June 30. 

9. Question: What FF&E does the City own and what is owned by the current operator? 

Answer: All tables and chairs inside the café and outside on the patio are owned by the City. All FF&E in 
the pro shop is owned by the operator.  

 

10. Question: What is the age, manufacturer, control type, and acreage of coverage of the irrigation 
system? 

Answer: The Toro irrigation system is 25 years old and covers approximately 102 acres of turf. There are 
approximately 1,446 sprinkler heads of which about 200 have been recently changed out for new 
Rainbird heads, primarily around the greens. It has 617 automatic valves. It is a block-style system and is 
programmed by configurable zones. 

 



 

Irrigated acreage and bird’s eye view of all 27 holes. 

 



 

Irrigation mapping: mainline, laterals and valves with legend 

  

The water source for the golf facility comes from the water utility which supplies between 429 
and 500+ acre feet of reclaimed water per year which is at times supplemented by raw water from the 
Rio Grande provided by Las Campanas Golf Club through a formal legal agreement approved by the 
NMED. This raw water benefits the turf by flushing the salts present in effluent water from the surface 
of the soil. 
 
Once the water is delivered by the utility to the irrigation pumping lagoon, a pump station pumps the 
water into a vast piping network referred to as “mainlines” and “lateral lines” (pipes). The mainline 
piping structure (leaving pumping station) is designed to facilitate approximately 1,900gpm at its safest 
flow velocity of less than five-feet-per-second (5’/sec). The existing mainline piping is comprised of Class 
200 PVC gasketed piping, which is common in the golf industry for large sizes of pipes. However, the 
lateral piping network is also Class 200 PVC, which is a thinner material in smaller pipe sizes. 
 
 

11. Question: What is the water source and are there any limits or restrictions on water usage? 

Answer: The primary water source for the golf facility comes from the water utility which supplies 
between 429 and 500+ acre feet of reclaimed water per year which is supplemented by raw water from 
the Rio Grande provided by Las Campanas Golf Club through a formal legal agreement which is 



approved by the NMED. This raw water benefits the turf by flushing the salts present in effluent water 
from the surface of the soil. 
 
The NMED allows up to 3.48 million gallons per day of reclaimed domestic wastewater to be received at 
Marty Sanchez Links de Santa Fe. 
 
 

12. Question: What is the age, manufacturer, type of the pump station? 

Answer: The pump station was installed with the opening of the course 25 years ago and serves the 
complex with a Watertronics VFD motor operating four pumps. There are four pumps, two 100hp, one 
75hp, and one 3hp sustain pump. The 230/460 volt 3-phase 100hp (ID #2A02-A0290879-BT) pump has 
been rewound this year and is in good working condition. The other 100hp pump is in good working 
condition. The Grundvos 1.5 in. 3hp, 3-phase sustain pump has been rebuilt and is in the process of 
being hooked back into the system. It should be operational by June 30. The 75hp pump has been pulled 
out of the pumphouse and is currently being worked on. It should also be operational by June 30. 

 

13. Question: Please detail the current maintenance budget. 

Answer:  

Budget Category Budget 
compliance svcs 11,100.00 
mower leases 86,000.00 
grounds and maint building repair/maint 16,000.00 
equip maint/repair 20,000.00 
sand, seed, fertilizer, irrigation components, 
operational supplies 88,000.00 
safety supplies 2,000.00 
uniform clothing 5,600.00 
Toro irrig. Software subscription 5,000.00 
tires 1,000.00 
auto parts 1,000.00 
gasoline 14,300.00 
diesel 16,500.00 
training 2,500.00 
dues 500.00 
Equip rental 92,000.00 
small equip/machinery 4,720.00 
service contracts (JD technician, treatments, etc.) 100,000.00 

TOTAL 466,220.00 
 



14. Question: What capital has been spent by each department over the last 5 years?  

Answer: Awaiting information and will provide as an addendum when received. 

 

15. What capital needs are anticipated over the next 5 years? 

Answer:  

3 new mowers  $280,000  
 

Weather station  $10,000  Would reduce water usage at golf course by cutting 
irrigation during precipitation events  

Practice area building 
renovation to become learning 
center 

$150,000  Currently an unused eyesore in the middle of the public 
entrance area; would allow golf lessons, driving range 
use, and golf club sales demos to take place during 
cold/rainy weather  

Pond membrane replacement 
for 4 ponds  

Quote 
pending  

All pond membranes have been compromised and are 
20+ years old. would reduce effluent water use 

Cart path paving   Quote 
pending  

Reduce cart scars on the golf course turf and reduce 
wear and tear of on golf carts and mowers  

Repaving of entrance and 
parking lot  

Quote 
pending  

Cracking, weed infestation, dilapidated  

Landscaping  $120,000  Entry, clubhouse, practice area, parking lot, flagpole area 
all need a new xeriscape and hardscape plan and 
implementation  

Circulatory pump system 
restoration  

$30,000  Reciprocating pump system that feeds two ponds and 
facilitates stream in between is non-functional 

Clubhouse updating  $500,000 windows, flooring, lighting, built-ins, changing room(s), 
back pro shop doors replacement 

 

 

16. Question: Break down of retail sales into hard goods vs. soft goods? 

Answer:  



 

Golf and F&B Revenue Jan-Dec 2021 

 

 

 

Golf and F&B Revenue Jan-Dec 2022 

 

17. Question: Round counts by player type and associated revenue for the past 5 years. 

Answer:  

Round counts before 2021 are not accessible at this time. Rounds for 2021, 2022, and monthly rounds 
by player type for 2022 and 2023 are below. 



 

Round counts by month for the last 2.5 years 

 

Round counts by player type and associated revenue Jan-Dec 2022 

 

 

 

 

Jan 2022 Rounds by player 
type 

 

 

Feb 2022 Rounds by player 
type 

 

Mar 2022 Rounds by player 
type 

 



 

Apr 2022 Rounds by player 
type 

 

May 2022 Rounds by player 
type 

 

 

June 2022 Rounds by player 
type 

 

 

July 2022 Rounds by player 
type 

 

Aug 2022 Rounds by player 
type 

 

Sept 2022 Rounds by player 
type 

 

 

Oct 2022 Rounds by player 
type 

 

 

Nov 2022 Rounds by player 
type 

 

 

Dec 2022 Rounds by player 
type 

 



Jan 2023 rounds by player 
type

 

Feb 2023 Round counts by 
player type 

 

Mar 2023 Round counts by 
player type 



 

Apr 2023 Round counts by player type 

 

18. Question: Can you provide a breakdown of F&B sales – Food vs. Alcohol? 

Answer: The F&B sales is broken out by category below. 

F&B 2022 Categories Total Sales $ 
  Catering $3,144.13  
  Appetizers $6,670.60 

Breakfast $18,024.48 
Cold Entrees $3,315.00 
Desserts $1.50 
Hot Entrees $13,983.33 
Non-alcoholic 
Beverages $37,593.65 

Sandwiches $57,162.97 
Sides $4.00 
Snacks $9,290.01 

  Alcoholic Bev $154,153.00 

  TOTALS $303,342.67 
 

19. Question: Do you have historical data on expenses such as payroll and COGS? 

Answer: This is information that belongs to the current operator of the restaurant and golf services 
(New Mexico Golf Limited). The City does not have access to this information at this time. 

 

20. Question: What capital has been spent over the past 5 years? Also mentioned in question 14 (Q 
& A - Part One) 

Answer: The City services this facility by a combination of professional services, service contracts, work 
accomplished through other divisions, and work accomplished through the lessee. The following capital 
investments were made in the last 5 years: 



 $350,000 for the renovation of all clubhouse restrooms, on-course restrooms, and HVAC repairs 
in 2022-23. 

 $85,000 for new security cameras around the golf clubhouse, administration building, and golf 
maintenance building in 2023. 

 $183,633 was spent on improvements including solar arrays (36.94 kWdc on the Golf Course 
maintenance shop), LED lighting, water conservation upgrades, building envelope repairs 
(weatherization), and the replacement of a transformer. The work was completed by June 2022, 
with the exception of the lighting which was completed in November 2022. 

 $11,600 for floor repairs in the Administration Building in 2021 
 $6,500 for gate upgrades for the golf course front entrance in 2021 
 $112,000 for new equipment in 2018 

 

21. Question: What has the Marketing/Advertising budget been for the last 3 years? 

Answer: The City of Santa Fe’s fiscal year runs July 1-June 30. The Marketing budget for the last three 
years is below. 

 FY 20-21 - $11,500 
 FY 21-22 - $29,800 
 FY 22-23 - $62,000 

 

22. Question: What are the detailed EOY financials by department for the past 3 years along with 
the current year budget? 

Answer: The detailed EOY financials for Marketing and Maintenance (which are operated by the City) for 
the last three years and the current year budget are listed in the table below. 

*In the FY 22-23 budget, the Service Contracts line includes all temporary laborer contracts which makes 
up $361,584 of this line item. 



 

 ACTUALS FY 19-20  ACTUALS FY 20-21  ACTUALS FY 21-22  BUDGET FY 22-23 
Salaries (General)                    284,205.24                      206,462.25                 175,730.09                  429,396.00 
Salaries (Temporary)                                   -                                   0.01                                -                                   -   
Overtime                        3,002.06                          4,009.32                     2,205.98                      4,010.00 
OT-Fire Worked Holiday @ 1.5                        2,147.71                          1,726.77                        150.38                      1,727.00 
OT-Fire Worked Holiday @ 2.5                           284.38                                     -                                  -                                   -   
Shift Differential                                   -                                       -                          356.00                                 -   
Annual Leave                      42,964.53                        31,889.74                   24,037.08                                 -   
Personal Day                           731.67                          1,081.16                     1,003.75                                 -   
Miscellaneous Leave                        6,503.92                          2,920.13                     2,298.00                                 -   
Comp-time                        9,529.59                          8,924.57                     3,258.57                                 -   
Sick Leave                      21,084.96                          5,371.85                     6,574.94                                 -   
Incentives                                   -                               297.45                        362.21                                 -   
FICA                      24,355.29                        20,090.66                   15,706.43                    32,849.00 
Retirement (PERA)                      67,317.49                        50,651.11                   43,199.88                    92,960.00 
Employee Health Insurance                      56,259.42                        50,514.20                   43,480.25                    71,078.00 
Retiree Health Care                        6,490.52                          4,878.99                     4,169.00                      8,588.00 
Unemployment Insurance                                   -                                       -                                  -                                   -   
Workers' Comp                             78.20                               57.50                          34.50                      5,325.00 
City Share Dental Insurance                        2,835.01                          2,432.31                     2,139.78                      3,269.00 
Uniform Allowance                                   -                               700.00                     2,000.00                                 -   
Compliance Services                        7,150.00                                     -                       7,284.10                    11,100.00 
Professional Contracts                                   -                          32,894.10                 255,606.35                                 -   
Service Contracts                      24,260.83                        11,876.30                   33,848.39                  516,310.00 
Other Consulting                      86,434.43                        32,287.95                   11,336.83                    10,000.00 
Reim. Share of Sales                      32,499.99                                     -                                  -                                   -   
Gas                        6,810.26                        10,041.91                   11,666.16                    10,000.00 
Electric                    134,719.58                      180,941.85                 192,518.06                  150,000.00 
Rep and Maint Build/Struct                        4,029.74                             714.79                     1,874.40                      5,000.00 
Rep & Maint Grounds/Rd                        7,500.00                          8,201.09                     7,493.42                    10,000.00 
Rep & Maint Furn/Fix/Equip                           482.75                               97.67                          70.00                      1,000.00 
Rep & Maint Machin & Equip                        7,281.76                          8,647.33                   10,742.03                    20,000.00 
Office Supplies                        1,858.47                          2,355.12                        483.28                      2,000.00 
Operating Supplies                      78,818.82                        60,161.70                   62,693.15                    88,320.00 
Safety Supplies                                   -                                       -                          658.51                      2,000.00 
Food                           522.07                                     -                                  -                                   -   
Uniform Clothing & Linen                        3,525.00                                     -                                  -                        5,600.00 
Software Subscriptions                      12,145.00                        10,850.00                     5,580.00                    14,295.00 
Auto Parts                        1,129.84                             604.61                                -                        1,000.00 
Tires                           779.79                                     -                                  -                        1,000.00 
Gasoline                        5,169.21                          1,011.91                     3,071.89                    14,300.00 
Diesel                        5,568.56                          3,796.10                     3,635.95                    16,500.00 
Out of State Per Diem                           428.19                                     -                                  -                                   -   
In State Per Diem                           126.39                                     -                                  -                                   -   
In State Transportation                          (273.99)                                     -                                  -                                   -   
Registration                        1,026.00                                     -                          300.00                      1,000.00 
Employee Training/Tuition                             30.00                             123.89                        150.00                      2,500.00 
Gross Receipt Taxes                                   -                               303.52                                -                      37,000.00 
Credit Card Fees                      15,070.77                                     -                                  -                      20,000.00 
Bank Charges & Fees                           160.38                             121.36                          74.03                         148.00 
Print/Publish                        3,126.41                             225.25                                -                        2,000.00 
Advertising                      57,456.88                        11,352.82                   29,770.72                    60,000.00 
Dues                           210.00                                     -                                  -                           500.00 
Equipment/Machinery Rental                      87,362.10                        91,594.43                   95,187.01                    92,000.00 
Equipment & Machinery >$5K                      11,574.00                                     -                                  -                        6,960.00 
Vehicles < 1.5                           124.13                                     -                                  -                                   -   
Equipment & Machinery <$5K                        2,391.00                                     -                       1,299.98                      4,720.00 
Operating Supplies                        1,163.06                                     -                                  -                                   -   
TOTALS                 1,128,451.41                      860,211.72              1,062,051.10               1,754,455.00 



23. Question: Could you provide revenue by category for each of the last 5 years? 

Answer: Years 2021 and 2022 revenue by category (including Food & Beverage as a category) is located 
on Q and A document – Part One, question #16. The monthly revenue breakdown by golf category from 
mid-year 2018, through January 2021 is below. Month-by-month revenue breakdown of Feb 2021 
through April 2023 (including Food & Beverage) is also included below. 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

April 2020 – Golf course was closed because of COVID pandemic. 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
The following follow-up questions were raised about answers in the Q and A doc: 
 
Question: 
  

We noticed discrepancies in Greens fee revenue from question #16 and #17 (2022 golf revenue 
in question #16 and YOY Comparison chart in question #17) 

 
Answer: 
 

The YOY greens fee totals in Q and A question #17 appears to not have captured all rate types. 
Question #16 has the most accurate numbers. 

 
Question: 
 

We noticed that the Maintenance Budget (Page 6) does not include $150,000 electric expense 
that Maintenance / Marketing Expenses does (Page 14) 

 Is this electric expense for maintenance only, clubhouse, or both? 
 If it is for maintenance, is there a reason all or some is not included in 

maintenance budget? 
 
 Answer: 
  



Per the RFP, the electric expense and all other basic utilities will be paid by the City of Santa Fe 
and so was not included in the maintenance budget on page 6, part 1. The $150,000 amount 
includes the entire property’s use (restaurant, pro shop, maintenance, administration building, 
pump house).  

 

 


